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The Fox Public House, Pirton
Archaeological Assessment

2 Archaeological and Historical Background
2.1
Introduction

2.2
The Village of Pirton is situated on a gently sloping spur of slightly raised ground overlooking the lower Bedford plains to the north. Within the present village boundaries is a number of natural springs, which emanate from a shallow valley, less than 500m to the north west.

2.3
The village of Pirton has been described by English Heritage as "one of the most important historic sites in Hertfordshire with its well preserved village and castle earthworks."

2.4
Extensive archaeological remains have been identified, and artefacts discovered in, and around the surrounding area of Pirton, dating from to the Neolithic to the present day. The main area of interest, however, is the development of the site during the transition periods from late Anglo-Saxon through, and into, the Medieval period and the apparent decline of the village in the fourteenth century.

2.5 Geo-Technical Summary

2.6
In 1996 a series of eight trial pits were excavated and investigated across the site by RSA Geotechnics Ltd. on behalf of Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd. The pits were excavated using a JCB and measured 0.60m in width and 2.00 to 2.20m in length. This geological survey revealed lower chalk ( Chalk Marl), which was overlain by a discontinuous layer of head deposits and patches of made ground.

2.7
The topsoil measured 0.20 to 0.60m in depth. While the made ground was encountered in the north margins of the site as well as the south eastern corner, near the suspected location for the natural spring.

2.8 The head deposits measured 0.15 to 0.40m in depth and were comprised of soft to firm greyish brown/ orange brown silty clay, with variable proportions of subangular and subrounded flint gravel.

2.9
At a depth of 1.6 to 1.8m a weathered lower chalk layer was encountered which consisted of firm to soft -firm, closely fissured and friable light grey silty calcareous clay. This layer represents periglacial weathering of the 'true' lower chalk layer. The lower chalk layer was estimated to be over 20m 'in depth and was comprised of stiff to weak clayey chalk with closely spaced subvertical and subhorizontal fractures.

2.10 Although groundwater levels are exposed to seasonal variation, water was only encounter in one of the test pits. The test pit was located north of the properties adjacent to the south east of the site and were also situated on the main high street. It was in this area that a natural spring was suspected, in addition to local rumours of the existence of a pond located in this area, within living memory. A perched water table was encountered at a depth of 0.90m (The same water source that waterlogged the north portion of area 'A'). The real water table was discovered at a depth of 2.06m. These finding give credence to the existence of an exploitable water source being located on the site.

2.11 This data was consistent with the archaeological record from the two seasons of excavation and the observation and recording program.

Archaeological Background Prehistoric:

2.12 Prehistory encompasses the 'Three Age' system ranging from the Stone Age to the arrival of the Roman Empire. Within in this long chronology man has progressed from bands of hunter-gathers to organised chiefdoms, from seasonal nomads to settled farmers, from stone tools to the utilisation of iron.

2.13 Hertfordshire has some of the most important evidence from the Mesolithic (1000 - 4500 BC), including a boat burial of a small child (Bryant, 1997). Unfortunately, these sites are under threat from quarrying activities, and much of the archaeological evidence has been lost.

234 The archaeological record supports a lot of activity in the county particularly in the Iron age with extensive and important sites, from large hillforts to important settlements such as Baldock, only eight miles east of the site.

2.15 There are numerous cropmarks, and aerial photographic evidence for prehistoric features, such as round burial mounds (often associated with the Bronze age, but the tradition carries on into the Anglo-Saxon period in different parts of the country), trackways and enclosures, in the surrounding landscape of Pirton. However, with the absence of artefactual evidence the precise dating of these features is uncertain.

2.16 There have been many artefacts recovered from around the surrounding landscape of Pirton. However, the direct archaeological evidence to support a major settlement is patchy, but it is likely there has been occupation in this landscape from the Neolithic (4500-2500 BC), probably continuing through the Iron age up to the present day. The archaeological evidence for occupation is often implied by the discovery of funnery remains and associated structures, this is also true of the Neolithic evidence in the Pirton landscape.

2.17 The Neolithic period signalled the emergence of the adoption of farming and a more active approach to animal husbandry, allowing people to remain in one area and establish more semi-permanent settlements. Situated on a hill to the south west of Pirton is a Neolithic bowl barrow (SMR:20419) and limited excavations in 1990 in 'Danes field' recovered a sherd of Peterborough-type pottery from this period (Went and Burleigh, 1990). Furthermore, a Neolithic stone celt was found near Pirton (SMIR:17l4).
Anglo-Saxon:

2.24 The Anglo- Saxon period (410 - 1066 AD) is one of transition. The Roman army had left Britain, there was the influx of new peoples from the west of Europe (The Jutes, Angles and Saxons) and in the later half of the period the raids and arrival of the Scandinavian people (The Norse, Danes and Swedes), and the creation of Danelaw. The Anglo-Saxon period also sees the beginning of the adaptation of the Christian religion, and finally period ends with the invasion of the Normans from Brittany.

2.25 Hertfordshire is one of the few areas of southern England which has not produced any significant evidence of early Anglo-Saxon occupation. This is in marked contrast to the amount and quality of archaeological evidence from the late Iron Age to the Romano-British period (Bryant, 1997). This may be due to the ephemeral nature of the archaeological traces associated with this period of time, or, as it has been speculated that the Romano-British way of life continued, relatively unchanged until the later half of this period in Hertfordshire Bryant, 1997). Alternatively, there may be many sites yet to be discovered that belong to this period.

2.26 However, documentary evidence suggests that an Anglo-Saxon tribe called the 'Hicci', occupied land somewhere near the present day town of Hitchin, which is approximately 3 miles to the south east of the site at Pirton. Archaeological evidence also points to a settlement at the present day Garden City of Letchworth, which is located approximately 4 miles to the east of Pirton.

2.27 A probable 6th century AD disc brooch was recovered from the western edge of Pirton. There are hints at a possible Anglo-Saxon cemetery, which was extensively disturbed by quarrying in the late Eighteenth and early Nineteenth centuries. However, the actual location is not certain. 'Danes Field' (SMR:195), 50m south west of the present site, was investigated in 1990 (Went and Burleigh, 1990 a&b), in the hope of rediscovering the cemetery site. Although, a decorated sherd of Anglo-Saxon pottery was recovered, the inhumations-and cremations investigated in the nineteenth century dated from the Romano-British period. A further pot base sherd was also recovered approximately 1 OOm to the west of the present site (SMR:195), which is suspected of being either late Iron Age or Anglo-Saxon (SMR:195). For Pirton to have been well established by the time of the Domesday Census, it could be argued that there must have been some occupation of the site in the Anglo-Saxon period.

2.28 Therefore, Anglo-Saxon settlement of Pirton has been implied by tentative evidence, but has not been conclusively proved.

Medieval:

2.29 The medieval period (1066-1500 AD) was a time of rapid population growth, but with the coming of a series of plagues, later called the 'Black death', in the mid fourteenth century, it was also a time of rapid population decrease. Conservative estimations put the death toll across Europe at a third to half of the original fourteenth century population figures. This had an obvious dramatic effect on many villages, and small towns, as the rivers and trade routes that had fuelled economic growth and expansion, also brought the plague and the high number of mortalities. In many cases, the population figures did not recovered until the post medieval period. These problems, in conjunction with and compounded by, a background of economic, religious and political instability, the dynamics of an agrarian system and a general trend of movement of people from villages to towns, left many villages either abandoned or they were forced to contract in size, or shift in focus.

2.30 Pirton is recorded in the Domesday Book as Peritone, a substantial settlement with a parish priest, and two manors. By 1086 substantial settlement of 180-300 people, living in the core village and the surrounding landscape. This figure is impressive when compared to the 481 individuals in first national census of 1801.

2.31 Evidence for the Medieval period is still clearly visible in Pirton. Approximately 200m to the south of the site are extensive medieval earthwork remains in a field called the 'Bury', in the north west corner of this field is a large castle earthwork known as 'toot hill'.

2.32 The exact date of the motte and bailey castle, toot hill, (SMIR:13612; 32) in the centre of the village, is unknown, but it is thought that it was erected at some point during the late eleventh or mid twelfth centuries. The actual perceived threat to the village of Pirton which prompted a need for defensive measures is unknown. However, other similar examples in the north of Hertfordshire were erected during the early half of the twelfth century AD in the period known as the 'Anarchy' (Pounds. 1994). The oval motte has been quarried at a later date, causing a large depression at its summit. The motte measures 1 00 in diameter and 6.7m in height. Adjacent to the motte lies the extensive remains of the bailey ditch approximately 2.5m in depth.

2.33 Substantial upstanding earthworks, in and adjacent to the motte and bailey are either contemporary with, or slightly later in date than the castle, and they appear to represent a settlement with house platforms, property boundaries, ponds and a hollow way, all dating from the 12th century onwards. These earthworks were surveyed in 1988 by the North Hertfordshire District Archaeological Unit.

2.34 Approximately I 00 south of the site is St Marys Church. The reference to a priest in the Domesday Book, may indicate the existence of a church here at least by the eleventh century AD. The church has undergone alterations and repairs, during the post medieval period, particularly the rebuilding of the tower in the nineteenth century. However, the nave walls were raised during the fifteenth century, and a porch added in the fourteenth century.

2.35 A moated site and associated enclosure at Rectory farm (SMR 206448), is located north west of the site. The square shaped moat measured 80m by 75m and varies in width from 3 - 1 Om. The north west portion of the moat is still waterlogged and the rest fills with water seasonally. The south west corner of the moat has been infilled and a seventh century farmhouse established on that position. Adjacent to the moat is another similar enclosure which measures 70m by 160m and of a similar width. This complex was fed by a now dried stream to the north west
2.36 The true function of moated sites is unknown, but their construction is thought to reflect status rather than being defensive sites. It has been suggested that one of the enclosures was for occupation and the other for horticulture. Around the moated site, evidence for medieval ridge and furrow (SMR:4715), and occupation platforms and their associated enclosures were identified in a 1987 survey carried out the North Hertfordshire District Archaeology unit, Indicating that the medieval settlement of Pirton was substantial and had expanded away from the motte and bailey core of the village.

2.37 In 1994 the Heritage Network carried work on the development of Walnut Tree farm, which is located to the south of the earthworks associated with the motte and bailey. These investigations uncovered the remains of both Medieval and Post-Medieval activity. The excavation of the road corridor uncovered the remains of part of a Medieval settlement, possibly a forerunner to Walnut Tree Farm, with ditches, pits and postholes dated to the 10-12th centuries. This work reinforced the view of an extensive early medieval settlement in Pirton.

2.38 The proximity of the present site to these extensive medieval remains, indicated, from the onset of the investigation that features from this period would probably be encountered. However, the important nature of the evidence on the site in the context of the chronology and size of Medieval Pirton was unknown

Post Medieval:

2.39 The impressive survival of much of the medieval features of Pirton, does not mean that the village has not undergone any changes through the post medieval period (1500 AD - to the present day). Although, there is no evidence of substantial change to the village with the emergence of the industrial revolution, the surrounding landscape, particularly to the east of the village has undergone extensive quarrying. A Process that is still ongoing. However, during the later half of this period the village has expanded and many of the buildings standing today have origins in this period. In modem times the 'gaps' are being infilled with private domestic residential homes, such as the subject of this investigation.

2.40 The Fox Public House has an 18th century brick facade, but probably dates back to the 17th century, however there is no documentary evidence it was an alehouse until the nineteenth century.

2.41 The type of sites dated to this broad period reflects the rural nature of the village. There are two dovecotes dating to the seventeenth century (SMR:6301; 6302). A hollow way running east-west across the 'bury field was identified by the NHDC unit in 1988, and documentary evidence suggests that the roadway was in use up to the 1860's (Fenton and Burliegh, 1993). The farmhouse at Hammonds farm, (SMR: 4513), is an irregular early sixteenth century building. There is two manor houses around Pirton, (SMR:1928) is dated to the sixteenth century and is located to the south of the site on Highdown hill. While (SMR:0 154) is dated to the seventeenth century and is located on the north west edge of the village of Pirton. Both houses have been altered during the following centuries.

2.42 Site Specific Historical Summary
2.43 In the eighteenth century the site is described as consisting of a cottage and a close of pasture land named Colemans. The owner was John Kingsley. This was later purchased in 1841 by William Lucas, who was a brewer from Bridge Street in Hitchin. However, the building is still described as a cottage and not an ale house. The rateable value was £16 in 1863. The building stayed in the ownership of the Lucas family until 1914.

2.44 Historical records of tenancy and land ownership extend to the seventeenth century, and apart from the addition of small outbuildings (probably barns), on the land abutting the high street, the appears to have remained open for the duration of the post medieval period. This is reflected by the level of preservation of features encountered. There is no historical evidence to support settlement on the site prior to the seventeenth century.

Summary of Previous Archaeological work

2.45 The thirteen trial trenches across the site carried out in 1993, showed evidence of occupation between the eleventh and fourteenth centuries, with the suggestion of a contraction taking place at some point after that date. It demonstrated that archaeological remains were well distributed across the site and that their state of preservation was generally good.

2.46 The open area excavation carried out in 1995 (areas A-C), demonstrated that the site may form the nucleus of a Saxo-Norman manorial settlement consisting of a series of timber post built buildings on east-west and north-south orientations, surrounding an inhumation cemetery. The chronological span of the evidence appeared to be from the late Anglo-Saxon to the late Medieval periods. The remains were considerable and well-preserved, indicative of a very dense settlement which clearly extended beyond the excavation area in every direction.

2.47 The excavation of area D and the enhanced observation and recording program undertaken in 1997/8 revealed similar features to those encountered in the previous phases of work. Consisting mainly of ditches, pits and post hole alignments, indicative of occupation. This area extended the evidence of Saxo-Norman occupation northwards, and the two enhanced watching brief areas 'infihled' gaps in the previous seasons excavations. In addition, a late Medieval! early Post Medieval coffin burial was investigated during the post excavation programme of observation and recording. The northern excavation area displayed a wider chronological span from the Anglo-Saxon to the post Medieval periods, but no boundary was observed to the archaeology, which still clearly extends from the site in all directions.

6 Discussion and Conclusions


6.1
Pirton has a long evolution stretching from the prehistoric, through the Romano-British period onwards. It's proximity to the Icknield way, the presence of several natural springs, and arable land coupled with its location on a spur above the Bedford plains make it a natural place for settlement.


6.2
Archaeological evidence from previous work indicates that the Romano-British settlement and subsequent Saxon occupation of Pirton lies to the west of the current site. Although some Saxon evidence was observed on the site, consisting of one large pit and some residual pottery, it was only located in the north western corner.


6.3
By Domesday, Pirton is recorded as a well established village with an estimated population of around 180 to 300 people. In the 1801 national census this figure has only risen to 481.


6.4
Prior to the extensive occupation of the site in the 10th to 13th centuries forty individuals were buried in a discrete cluster in the middle of the site. The dating evidence for these burials is problematic, but it is likely they are Christian due to their east-west orientation and lack of grave goods. Two building groups 10 and 8 (1Oth-12th) appear to overlie the cemetery and ditch group 3 (12th-l3th) cuts through the northern half of it. Although, residual Saxon material was recovered from one of the grave fills, these burials represent family groups probably dating to the early Saxo-Norman period.


6.5
Ten of the burials appeared to have received blade lesions, some of the individuals display multiple blows. These injuries are more consistent with melee rather than brawls.


6.6
The burial of these individuals indicates that the original religious focus for the village was to thendrth of the present church, in area B. This also implies that an early church may be present. However, the evidence is inconclusive but some structures do lie close, but not on the burials, all are orientated broadly N-S. Building groups 11 and 12 lie immediately to the east of the burials but neither of these structures are dated. further to the east lies buildings 13 (10-11th) and 14(10-12th).


6.7
The majority of the buildings appear to be rectangular halls, some of which clearly show internal divisions. Environmental data suggests that some of these buildings were used for crop processing, while others for storage and living. Associated with these buildings were fenced boundaries and smaller fenced areas, possibly animal pens. The dating evidence indicates that most of the buildings were fell into disuse during the 10th to 12th centuries. However, building groups 6 and 13, both show signs of two phases of construction (building groups 7 and 14). The first phase consisting of upright post standing in a 'foundation' trench followed by a complete re-build, abandoning the first phase building for a similar sized structure constructed from individual post set in post holes. Both phases showed a shift to the east in the location of the second phase building. The second phase of building group 6 was building group 7 which was dated between the 11th and 13th centuries.

6.8
Land was divided into plots by a combination of fences and ditches. Many of the ditches have their origins in the 10th to 11th centuries with evidence of re-cuts up until the 13th century.

6.9
During the 12th century work was started on St Mary's church, the motte and bailey to the south of the site was constructed. There is clear evidence of settlement within the bailey on land now referred to as the 'Bury'. The present site is contemporary with this activity and lies only 1 00 to the north.

6.10 The presence of moated sites around the edge of Pirton, adds further weight that the village was fairly prosperous. As these sites have been seen by some to be status symbols rather than an attempt to defend the farms.

6.11 The evidence suggests that despite the unrest during the period know as the 'anarchy, Pirton continued to prosper until the fourteenth century. This fits the national trend of rural decline due to overworked soils, environmental changes causes diseases in livestock and poor crop yields. Economic problems were compounded with the series of plagues, 'the Black Death', during the later half of the fourteenth century.

6.12 After this period there is no substantial use of the land on the site until the sixteenth century. Even then this consisted of activity along the present high street at the south end of the site and a boundary ditch in the very northern limit of the site. The vast bulk of the site was never re-occupied until the present day.

6.13 A single burial was discovered under the northern limits of the excavation. This individual was burial in a coffin, which was decorated with material held on by small tacks. The body had been pinned into a simple shroud. Although no direct dating evidence was recovered ftcm this inhumation, the style is that of around the fifteenth to sixteenth centuries. However, such traditions can span long periods in rural settings. The presence of this burial on the site is unusual as the church yard at St Mary's to the south had been established for over three hundred by this time.

6.14 Ploughmarks and a general spread of post Medieval material within the topsoil indicate that this land was cultivated during the last four hundred years. The southern limits continued to be developed with the construction of the present public house in the seventh century, and later renovated in the eighteenth century. The northern limits of the site were - enclosed as gardens during the last two hundred years.

6.15 Conclusions
6.16 It is clear, from the phasing of the archaeological features and deposits investigated over the duration of the project, that the majority of the archaeological activity occurs within a narrow timescale between the 10th and 13th centuries. This is a period which is historically regarded as a time of expansion for many rural communities (Koenigsberger, 1987). The expansion of buildings and the re-cutting of ditch boundaries suggests that the site was continuing to grow through the 13th century. The agrarian problems and successive waves of plague in the fourteenth century must have contributing factors to the abandonment of the land. Especially with the environmental evidence of crop processing in several location on the site, underlining the rural nature of the settlement.

6.17 The burials discovered in the centre of the site, do not appear to relate to the early Medieval occupation. However, the nature of the burials suggests they are Christian. As the present church was established in the 12th century, these inhumations probably date either to the late Saxon period or they are early Saxo-Norman in date. This indicates that the early Christian focus of the village was to the north of the present church.

6.18
The decline of the site as a part of the settlement of Pirton in the 14th-i 5th centuries, is significant given the density of occupation over the previous centuries and the lack of re-development of the site during the late medieval and post medieval periods, especially as the site is located in the core of the village. It appears that the land was used for agricultural purposes, after the 13th century until the present day, with the exception of the northern limits of the site and the land adjacent to the present day high street. The single early post medieval burial does not appear to relate to any features or boundaries observed on the site, and therefore must be associated with the land to the north of the present investigation.

6.19 Over the duration of this project there has been archaeological evidence for:-

• Over twenty buildings and out-buildings on the site mainly dating to the Saxo-Norman period, with further evidence of expansion between the 11t h-13th centuries.

• The establishment of field boundary ditches during the 10th-13th- centuries, some of which survived into the nineteenth century.

• The storing and processing of cereal crops and pulses in the l0th-13th centuries. With additional environmental data suggesting that some of the stores may have burnt down in situ.

• A small cemetery which pre-dates the existing medieval churchyard, and probably the structures on site.

• An episode of violence to a quarter of the inhumations investigated.

• A decline in the fourteenth century and then re-settlement in the southern limits of the site in the early post-medieval period.

• A single coffin burial dating to the early post medieval period.

